1979

# Gold Oil Land Development Corporation, A Corporation v. Steven C. Davis And Kristi Ann Davis, His Wife, Wade R. Davis And Hrs. Wade Davis, His Wife, And Leo M. Bertagnole, A Single Man : Brief of Appellant Steven C. Davis

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 1977, Steven C. Davis became associated with Gold Oil Land Development Corporation, plaintiff-respondent herein (hereinafter referred to as "Gold"), a business enterprise concerned with the promotion and development of real property located in Utah County.

Defendant-Appellant Davis' involvement with Gold was precipitated by his acquaintance with Verdi R. White, Sr., chairman of the board of Gold.

During the period of his involvement with Gold, including the period encompassed by this cause of action, defendant-appellant Davis' activities were directed toward the prevention and resolution of disagreements with Gold

and purchasers of the property in Utah County in which Gold had acquired an option interest and securing other purchasers for the remaining acreage in this 142-acre tract.

The issue presented to the trial court was the validity of certain conveyances of acreage in the aforementioned tract of real estate. The first conveyance in question is a quit-claim deed dated March 17, 1977, and recorded in the office of the Utah County Recorder on May 3, 1977, as Entry Number 13261 (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1), wherein Gold conveyed approximately 12-1/2 acres to Leo M. Bertagnole. The second conveyance in question was evidenced by a quit-claim deed dated May 3, 1977, and recorded in the office of the Utah County Recorder as Entry Number 13263 on May 3, 1977 (Defendants' Exhibit Number 3), wherein Leo M. Bertagnole conveyed approximately 10 acres to Steven C. Davis and his wife, Kristi Davis.

The final judgment of the trial court determined also the effect of a subsequent conveyance by Steven Davis and Kristi Davis of approximately 10 acres. This transaction appears in the record as a warranty deed executed May 2, 1978, and recorded in the office of the Utah County Recorder, Entry Number 23471, on June 15, 1978. (Defendants' Exhibit Number 2). The court also determined the effect of the quit-claim deed acknowledged April 4, 1977, and recorded May 3, 1977, in the office of the Utah County Recorder

where approximately 12-1/2 acres were conveyed by Steven C. Davis and Kristi Davis to Leo M. Bertagnole.

Preliminary inquiry into the background of this lawsuit is essential. Hard feelings which culminated in this action arose between Verdi R. White, Sr., and Steven C. Davis in March, 1977, after Mr. White's return from a vacation. These hostilities were resultant from the senior Mr. White's categorization of Mr. Davis' activities during Mr. White's absence from the state. For reasons and by means irrelevant to this instant action, Mr. Davis had recorded a warranty deed from Gold to Steven C. Davis and Kristi Davis of approximately 142 acres in Utah County. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 12). Previously, in December, 1976, Gold had obtained from Mack Jacobsen and E. D. Jacobsen an option agreement for the purchase of approximately 142 acres in Utah County, the subject property of the aforementioned deed. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 4).

Upon learning of the above-described conveyance to Steven Davis and Kristi Davis, Mr. White, on behalf of Gold, is depicted as attempting to recover the property conveyed in the aforesaid warranty deed and to end the association with Mr. Davis.

On March 16, 1977, defendant-appellant Davis and Verdi R. White, Sr., met in the offices of James B. Medlin, an attorney, in an attempt to reconcile their differences.



Resultant from this meeting was an agreement (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 4) wherein Steven C. Davis was given until 5:00 p.m., March 18, 1977, to consummate the negotiations currently in progress with Leo M. Bertagnole for the purchase of approximately 12-1/2 acres in Utah County. Furthermore, regardless of the outcome of the negotiations with Mr. Bertagnole, Steven Davis and Kristi Davis were to reconvey to Gold the entire Salem Hills acreage which Gold had acquired from Mack and E. D. Jacobsen.

The Salem Hills property was duly reconveyed to Gold and was not a matter in controversy at trial.

However, the negotiations between Steven C. Davis and Verdi R. White, Sr., Verdi R. White II, Fred Mowrey, James Medlin, and Leo M. Bertagnole on March 17 and March 18, 1977, were the subject of the instant trial.

Defendant-appellant Davis and defendant Leo M. Bertagnole maintained that all concerned parties had agreed on March 18, 1977, that Leo M. Bertagnole would purchase the acreage in question for \$10,000. The defendants further contended that the documentary proof of this consummated transaction is evidenced by an earnest money receipt and offer to purchase (Defendants' Exhibit Number 5), a check for the consideration price stated in the earnest money receipt and offer to purchase (Defendants' Exhibit Number 6), and a warranty deed from Gold to Leo M. Bertagnole (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1).

The plaintiff asserted at trial that, in accordance with the agreement prepared by Mr. Medlin (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 4) and a letter from Verdi R. White, Sr., to Leo M. Bertagnole dated March 17, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10), the negotiations for the purchase of the 12-1/2 acres in Salem Hills was never consummated. The plaintiff further contended that the four deeds described earlier evidencing various interests in this parcel of land were invalid and defective.

The trial court found that there may have been a conditional delivery of the deed from Gold to Leo Bertagnole but that the stated conditions were not met and thus the deeds in question were void of any legal force and effect.

Defendant-appellant Davis believes that the trial court erroneously decided that the deed from Gold to Leo Bertagnole was conditionally delivered, that the conditions were never fully complied with, and that the deeds from Leo Bertagnole to Steven Davis and Kristi Davis and from Steven Davis, Kristi Davis, and Wade Davis and the deed from Steven C. Davis and Kristi Davis to Leo Bertagnole were null and void.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Trial in this matter was held on April 2, 1979, in the District Court of Salt Lake County.

On April 12, 1979, the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, judge of the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of

Utah, found that the delivery of a quit-claim deed to defendant Leo M. Bertagnole was conditional.

Furthermore, Judge Bullock found that the conditions necessary to effectuate a valid absolute delivery to defendant Leo M. Bertagnole had never been performed.

Lastly, the trial judge voided all subsequent conveyances of the subject property by defendant Leo Bertagnole and his grantees.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellant Steven C. Davis seeks to have the lower court's decision reversed as a matter of law; in the alternative, the defendant-appellant seeks to have this court remand the matter to the lower court for a factual hearing on the merits of this case.

#### FIRST ARGUMENT

DID THE PLAINTIFF SUSTAIN ITS BURDEN  
OF PROOF AT TRIAL?

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT ANSWERS "YES."

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT ANSWERS "NO."

Parenthetical references found in the body of this brief are abbreviated so that "T" refers to testimony recorded in the trial transcript at the pages designated.

Defendant-appellant's initial argument, that the plaintiff did not sustain its burden of proof at the trial, is delineated into the following three distinct points:

1. That the findings of the lower court are not supported by competent evidence.

2. That much of the testimony and evidence presented at trial had no probative value in determining a central issue in dispute, as it dealt with matters remote in time; and

3. That the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings made by the trial court.

Each of these points are addressed below in the order rostered above.

The trial court concluded that "at best, there was a conditional delivery" and that the recorded deeds had no legal force and effect as the conditions precedent to a valid delivery thereof were never satisfied. (T166, T167).

Determination of whether there was an absolute delivery or conditional delivery of the quit-claim deed from the plaintiff-respondent to Leo M. Bertagnole (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1) was premised upon testimony of Verdi R. White, Sr. (T16, T17, T18, T25, T26), Fred Mowrey (T44), Steven Davis (T80, T81, T83), and Leo M. Bertagnole (T106) and a carbon copy of a letter purporting to state specified conditions precedent to the consummation of the conveyance of real estate to Leo M. Bertagnole. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10).

Verdi R. White, Sr., testified at trial (T26) that the letter containing escrow instructions (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) was dictated by him to Steve Davis. However, Mr. White could not recall affixing his signature to this document (T26). The original letter was not produced at trial, and Mr. White's signature on this letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) cannot be proven or disproven. Therefore, the assumption of the trial court that Mr. White did commit himself, by the physical act of signing his name, to the stated principles and intentions is logically faulty and subject to great non-persuasion and disbelief. There was no testimony from any other witness that would categorically affix Mr. White's signature to this document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) and which would support the findings of the trial court.

Absent competent testimony that Mr. White did sign the document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10), a reasonable belief that Mr. White did not intend to impose the conditions expressed within the document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) upon the negotiations for the sale of the 12-1/2 acres to Mr. Bertagnole should be sustained. Mr. White, Sr., dictated the document's contents and was present when the document was drafted. Logic mandates that Mr. White, Sr., would have immediately signed this letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) if he were indeed attempting to impose the conditions therein on these negotiations. Furthermore, it

is only logical that Mr. White, Sr., would be able to recall signing this document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10).

At trial, however, it was never demonstrated that Mr. White, Sr., signed the letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) or even that he recalled doing so. It is defendant-appellant Davis' contention that there is no competent testimony or evidence indicating that the letter was signed by Verdi R. White, Sr. Certainly, if the person authorized to make business transactions and negotiations conditional fails to do so, it is neither within the prerogative or the ability of the trial judge to manufacture the existence of the conditions precedent. To blithely leap the parameters of logic and reasonableness alters the complexion of the litigation before the court and manifestly prejudices the party against whom the assumed conditions are imposed.

Substantiation that the letter drafted March 17, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10), and the aforescribed testimony relating to the contents therein are not competent evidence is found in 31 Corpus Juris Secundum, Evidence, Section 2, at page 816:

By "competent" evidence is meant that which the very nature of the thing to be proved requires as the fit and appropriate proof in the particular case. "Competent evidence" means evidence which tends to establish the fact in issue and does not rest on mere surmise or guess...

Precedential case law from this state's highest court also demands the introduction and consideration of competent evidence.

An offer of proof must be certain, sufficient, and intelligible and must definitely state the facts sought to be proved. It must show the materiality, competency, and relevancy of the evidence offered. Dansak v. Deluke, 12 Utah 2d 302, 366 P.2d 67, 70 (1961).

Conjecture of the purest form and testimonial extrapolation premised upon surmise and guess were proffered to prove that Verdi R. White, Sr., did affix his name to the letter drafted March 17, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10), and that the negotiations for the sale of the Salem Hills property was structured by conditions precedent. Such evidentiary offerings are clearly beyond the realm of competent evidence and must be found inadmissible. Dansak, supra.

Clearly, the assumption by the trial judge that the sale of the parcel of property in Salem Hills to Leo Bertagnole was conditional merely because several parties to the transaction were involved in the drafting of a letter detailing a future desire to impose conditions upon the transaction is erroneous and constitutes patently harmful error to the defendant-appellant Davis.

The above-complained of assumption by the trial judge manifestly falls within the test utilized by the Supreme

Court of Utah in Del Porto v. Nicolo, 27 Utah 2d 236, 495 p.2d 811 (1972), to determine if reversible error was committed. The court stated at page 814:

To be considered along with the foregoing is this further proposition relative to errors which are assigned in attempting to reverse a judgment: the inquiry is not merely whether some error may have been committed. It is whether there was any error of a sufficient nature that it is reasonable to believe that it adversely affected the appellant or deprived him of a fair trial in such a way that in the absence of such error there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome would have been different.

Certainly, the erroneous categorization of the delivery of the quit-claim deed to Leo Bertagnole (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1) as being conditional rather than absolute altered the probable outcome of this litigation. Furthermore, the erroneous characterization which was formulated upon a faulty assumption premised upon non-persuasive testimony is so egregious to defendant-appellant Davis that reversal of the lower court's findings is the only mandated course of action.

In conjunction with the testimony of Verdi R. White, Sr. (T16, T17, T18, T25, T26), Fred Mowrey (T44, T80, T81), Steven Davis (T80, T83), and Leo Bertagnole (T106) regarding the contents of the letter of March 17, 1977 (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10), the court utilized the document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) to substantiate its findings



that the delivery of the quit-claim deed to Leo Bertagnole was conditional.

The document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) is not competent, admissible evidence and should not have been given significant credibility by the trial court. Counsel for the defendant-appellant Steven Davis objected at trial (T17) that the letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) was violative of the original document or "best evidence" rule.

McCormick, in his book, The Handbook Law of Evidence, 1954, at page 409, defines this rule in the following manner:

The specific tenor of this requirement needs to be definitely stated and its limits clearly understood. The rule is this: in providing the terms of a writing, where such terms are material, the original writing must be produced unless it is shown to be unavailable for some reason other than the serious fault of the proponent.

Among the policy reasons given for this rule, Professor McCormick, supra, cites a rationale that is explicitly appropriate to this cause of action:

The policy justification for the rule preferring the original writing lies in the fact (a) that precision in presenting to the court the exact words of the writing is of more than average importance, particularly as respects operative or dispositive instruments, such as deeds, wills, and contracts, since a slight variation in words may mean a great difference in rights. . . .  
McCormick, supra, at page 410.

At trial conclusive substantiation that the negotiations with defendant Bertagnole were conditional were

almost exclusively dependent upon a carbon copy of the letter drafted March 17, 1977. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10). No viable explanation was proffered at trial which accounted for the absence of the original letter.

It is not the author's intent to suggest that there were any alterations made. In large part, the "best evidence" rule was promulgated to prevent the introduction and utilization of untrustworthy evidence at trial. However, the point cannot too strongly be made that the original letter was not produced at trial nor was there any accounting made for the non-availability of the original. Essentially no precautions were taken to assure that altered evidence was not before the court for consideration.

Furthermore, the carbon copy of the letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) was improperly admitted into evidence. Assuming that this document (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) is secondary evidence, the uncontroverted reality is that the exhibit was accepted in evidence in total absence of a foundation for its admissibility being laid. 32 Corpus Juris Secundum, Evidence, Section 882, page 163. Stevens v. Gray, 259 P.2d 889 (1953).

This piece of evidence (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) is violative of the "best evidence" rule. Furthermore, justification for the submission of a copy was never tendered, nor was there any attempt made to lay a foundation

for its acceptance as secondary evidence. Fatally defective for so many reasons, it (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) should never have been a determinative factor in the resolution of this action.

Equally significant and deserving of careful attention is the intended utilization of this carbon copy. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10). Any credence given to the contents of the letter (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 10) significantly changes the legal meaning of not only the quit-claim deed from plaintiff-respondent to defendant Bertagnole (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1) but also all subsequent conveyances such as that from defendant Bertagnole to defendant-appellant Davis. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 3).

This legal metamorphosis was accomplished in direct contravention of the ancient sagacious mandate that a deed must be construed as any other document, that is by first referring to the four corners of the instrument itself.

The conveyance from plaintiff-respondent to defendant Leo Bertagnole was effectuated by a quit-claim deed that is absolute on its face. (Defendants' Exhibit Number 10). Likewise, there are no expressed conditions appearing on the conveyance from defendant Bertagnole to defendant-appellant Davis. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 3).

It is incumbent that the grantor clearly evidences his intent whenever appropriate. Verdi R. White, Sr.,

had ample opportunity to ensure that language making the conveyance to Leo Bertagnole (Defendant Exhibit Number 1) conditional appear on the face of this instrument. (Defendants' Exhibit Number 1).

Whether this elementary precaution was intentionally or unintentionally neglected is of no legal consequence. The conveyance from plaintiff-respondent to defendant Bertagnole and all subsequent transfers involving the Salem Hills property and the parties to this action must be proclaimed valid. Where construction of a deed is necessary to determine an individual's interest in real property, the deed is construed in favor of the grantee and in favor of vesting title. 4 Tiffany Real Property, Section 978. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co., 225 P.2d 989 (Utah 1953).

Judicial adherence to the above-stated proposition by the Supreme Court of Utah is also found in Wood v. Ashby, 253 P.2d 351 (1953), at page 353:

It is generally concluded that a deed is to be construed most strongly against the grantor and most favorably to the grantee. (Citations in text omitted.) It is also construed that in this state that a deed should be construed so as to effectuate the intentions and desires of the parties, as manifested by the language made use of in the deed. (Citations in text omitted; emphasis added by author.)

The language "hereby quit-claims" found in the deed from the plaintiff-respondent to the defendant Leo Bertagnole

(Defendants' Exhibit Number 1) indicates a contemporaneous desire to effectuate the conveyances to defendant Bertagnole. Adherence to the language of present intent utilized by the plaintiff-respondent and the axiomatic proposition construing a deed in favor of the grantee is resultant in a valid conveyance from plaintiff-respondent to defendant Bertagnole.

In a decision that was grievously erroneous and singularly prone to disdain the "best evidence" rule and case law precedent from this jurisdiction, the trial court declared invalid the interests of defendant Bertagnole and defendant-appellant Davis to the property in Salem Hills because certain conditions precedent were not met. A judicially proper determination of defendant-appellant Davis' interest in the ten acre parcel of land in Salem Hills is possible only by a reversal of the lower court's decision.

The action initiated by the plaintiff-respondent focused upon the rightful ownership of approximately 12-1/2 acres of real property in the Salem Hills area of Utah County.

As evidenced by the matters specifically rostered in its complaint, the plaintiff-respondent petitioned the court to consider and arbitrate only those transactions involving the parties named in this action and the conveyance of this acreage in Salem Hills.

Indeed, the issue presented to the court was not overly complex in substance or chronological occurrences.

However simple the issue central to this action, presentation of the plaintiff-respondent's prima facie case was notable for the inordinate amount of time devoted to the presentation of testimony and evidence utterly lacking in probative value essential to deciding it.

Nearly all of this cumbersome testimony and evidence dealt with events preceding the negotiations between the parties to this suit for the divesture of the 12-1/2 acres from plaintiff-respondent.

Every witness who testified at trial was requested or allowed to explain their particular knowledge of the development of the Salem Hills area in Utah County and the business associations between the parties involved in this action. Verdi R. White, Sr. (T7, T8, T9, T10, T11, T24, T30, T128, T129); Fred Mowrey (T35, T36, T37, T38, T39, T42, T46, T47, T48, T49); Steven C. Davis (T52, T53, T54, T45, T57, T58, T59, T60, T61, T62, T63, T64, T65, T66, T67, T69, T70, T71, T72, T73, T75, T76, T77, T92, T137, T138, T144); Leo M. Bertagnole (T101, T102, T103, T104, T108, T111, T113, T114).

Inquiring into the above-described matters was not conducive to a judicial pronouncement characterized by its unwavering impartiality or intelligibleness.

Nearly every communication detailing the background of this action was irrelevant and immaterial. Dansak,

supra. Such digressions should have been quickly halted. Each item of documentary evidence explaining historical matters preceding this action, such as Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 9, dealt with matters collateral to the primary subject of this action and was totally void of any probative value.

Much of these incidental offerings of background data were unsympathetic and prejudicial to defendant-appellant Davis' posture before the court. Note the judge's characterization of the proceedings as "argumentative." (T67).

Additionally, the effect of this cumulative, non-probative testimony was to confuse the attorneys and the judge. Note the court's difficulty in relating the testimony being given and the subject matter of this litigation. "How do you get to the 12-1/2 acres?" (T62) "I think that is true, Mr. White. I have difficulty in relating it to the 12-1/2 acres that I thought was the subject of this lawsuit." (T68).

The defendant-appellant Steven Davis is mindful and appreciative of the effort evidenced by the trial court to comprehend the issues presented at trial and to relate the testimony offered in court to the subject matter of the lawsuit. No fault may be found with the trial court's attentiveness at trial.

The matter of particular concern to defendant-appellant Davis is that numerous matters which were not germane to

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