1979

Gold Oil Land Development Corporation, A Corporation v. Steven C. Davis And Kristi Ann Davis, His Wife, Wade R. Davis And Hrs. Wade Davis, His Wife, And Leo M. Bertagnole, A Single Man : Brief of Respondent Gold Oil Land Development Corporation

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE GREAT PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO VALID DELIVERY OF EXHIBIT 1, AND THAT THE DELIVERY CONDITIONS WERE NEVER PERFORMED.

All of the evidence referred to in the Statement of Facts in this brief establish that the deed (Exhibit 1), was prepared by the appellant Davis on March 17, 1977, on his typewriter, in the office of the defendant, Leo Bertagnole, and that this deed was never delivered to the grantee therein. The evidence further clearly and convincingly shows that the appellant Davis, to whom the deed was entrusted, was not authorized to deliver it unless he had received on behalf of the grantor the sum of \$125,000 from the grantee, which sum represented the purchase price of the property described in the deed (R. 93, 97, 100, 101). Indeed, the appellant Davis acknowledged that the sale price to the grantee was \$125,000 (R. 152), that he presented the offer of \$125,000 to the grantee after the deed was prepared (R. 153). He further testified that he was given possession of the deed and other escrow documents mentioned in Exhibit 10 because he was handling the negotiations for the sale to the grantee on behalf of the respondent (R. 161, 162). The grantee in Exhibit 1 testified that he had never received the deed at any time prior to the date that it was recorded,

and that the deed was not recorded at his instance and request (R. 187). The appellant Davis admitted that the Surety Title Company was to be the escrow agent of the deed, as shown on Exhibit 10, and that the escrow agent was to deliver the deed upon payment of \$125,000 to the respondent (R. 164, Exhibit 10).

Appellant Davis loosely insisted that all of the parties present in Bertagnole's office, including the respondent, agreed to the modification of the sale price to \$10,000, and that all of the proceeds of that sale were to go to him personally. He gave no testimony as to how this agreement was reached, what any of the persons said with respect to it which indicated such agreement. He obviously based all his testimony in that respect on the provisions of the March 16th agreement (Exhibit 4) which provided that he was to receive the first \$35,000 when the sale to Bertagnole was consummated. This is indicated by the following excerpt from page 218 of the record:

"Q. And you say now that everybody there agreed that that \$10,000 would go to you personally?

A. As stated in the March 16th Agreement, with reference to that Agreement."

It is interesting that Davis felt it was necessary to claim that all the others agreed on the modification of the escrow and the reduction of the purchase price from \$125,000 to \$10,000 -- yet he didn't consult them when he further modified it himself by delivering the deed on May 3rd to the

Stewart Title Company for recording in exchange for a deed back to himself of 10 of the 12-1/2 acres, in lieu of the payment of \$10,000.

Fred Mowrey, representing International Mortgages, Inc. who had an interest in the sale to Leo Bertagnole, and Verdi White, representing the respondent, testified that the condition of the payment of \$125,000 was never altered by either of them. It is true that the appellant Davis claimed that all agreed to subsequently alter the purchase price requirement for the 12-1/2 acres from \$125,000 to \$10,000, but the court was fully justified in disbelieving this, especially with the land having an appraised value of \$12,500 per acre (R. 174).

The appellant Davis relies heavily upon the earnest money agreement (Exhibit 5). That agreement was never signed by respondent. Appellant Davis had no right to sell the property worth over \$100,000 to the grantee in the deed for \$10,000, and his signing the earnest money agreement as the seller could not be binding upon the respondent, especially when the defendant Bertagnole had full knowledge of the respondent's interest in the property. If the earnest money agreement is evidence of anything, it is evidence of the fact that the quit-claim deed dated March 17th was not considered to be absolute by either the appellant Davis or the grantee, because the grantee was still endeavoring to purchase the property therein described for \$10,000.

The appellant Davis, having failed in his attempt to sell the property to Bertagnole for \$125,000 as the condition for delivery of the deed required, was still endeavoring to get \$10,000 for himself to which he was not entitled. Counsel for the appellant claims that in the negotiations regarding the \$10,000 earnest money agreement, James Medlin was acting as attorney for the respondent. This is not true, and is not supported by the evidence. The only thing James Medlin was authorized to do by the respondent was the closing of the projected sale to Bertagnole for \$125,000, pursuant to Exhibit 4.

It is blatantly inconsistent for counsel for the appellant to claim that Exhibit 1 was absolute on its face on March 17, 1977, when appellant was thereafter endeavoring to negotiate the \$125,000 sale price with the grantee, and failing in that, he still endeavored to negotiate a sale of the property to Bertagnole for various other prices including the \$10,000 earnest money agreement. The record, therefore, clearly and convincingly shows that Exhibit 1 had never been delivered to the grantee, that the grantee never paid anything for it, and that the conditions for the delivery of the deed had never been performed.

The ultimate delivery of Exhibit 1 by the appellant Davis to the Stewart Title Company for recording on May 3rd was a clear breach of trust. The recording of Exhibit 3, by which the grantee on Exhibit 1 endeavored to convey back to appellant

Davis 10 acres of the land involved in Exhibit 1, was a further clear manifestation of the fact that the grantee in Exhibit 1 gave no consideration for it to the grantor in Exhibit 1. He simply collaborated with the appellant in an arrangement to provide the appellant with 10 acres of ground for which appellant paid nothing to him or, more importantly, to respondent.

It is mystifying that counsel for the appellant should place such heavy reliance upon the earnest money agreement between him and the defendant Bertagnole, when neither party to the earnest money agreement considered themselves bound by it, because they negotiated a still different deal between themselves on May 3rd when appellant Davis finally breached his trust by allowing Exhibit 1 to be recorded by the Stewart Title Company.

Furthermore, in claiming that the terms of the escrow letter (Exhibit 10) were extinguished and merged into the terms contained in the earnest money agreement, counsel for the appellant sidestepped the fact that the respondent was not a party to the earnest money agreement and did not at any time, verbally or in writing, acquiesce therein or accept it as the seller of the property involved. The appellant Davis' idle claim that Verdi White, who was already on his way to Provo at the time, and Fred Mowrey, agreed to the modification of the sales price from \$125,000 to \$10,000, was incredible and insusceptible of reasonable belief. The trial court was fully justified in disbelieving portions of the appellant Davis'

evasive and contradictory testimony, which were repudiated by the uncontroverted testimony of others summarized in this brief.

Counsel for the appellant misstates the record and misrepresents the fact when she asserts that upon execution of the earnest money agreement Leo Bertagnole was given a quit-claim deed (defendant's Exhibit 1). The record clearly shows that even the terms of the earnest money agreement between appellant Davis and Leo Bertagnole were never actually carried out. The further fact is that the grantee in Exhibit 1 himself testified that he never received delivery of the quit-claim deed, and that it was not even recorded at his request (R. 187). Even when Exhibit 1 was recorded by the Stewart Title Company on May 3, 1977, the grantee had not paid to anyone the amount called for by the earnest money agreement. He was agreeably surprised that the appellant Davis would be willing to give him the deed to 12-1/2 acres of valuable land if he would be good enough to deed 10 acres of that land back to the appellant Davis (R. 197). Leo Bertagnole in this respect testified as follows:

"Steve called me on the phone and said, "Leo I would be willing to give you 2-1/2 acres if you would deed me back 10 acres of the property." I told Steve that sounded like something that was quite generous of him. I did explain that I had spent a lot of time and efforts on this and I felt that I would be entitled to some consideration. So Steve agreed to give me 2-1/2 acres if I would deed the rest of the property back to him." (R. 207, 208).

From the above testimony of the grantee it is quite obvious that he had not theretofore paid any consideration for it, and that he was pleased to deed back 10 acres to appellant Davis and keep 2-1/2 acres for himself. These deeds all show on their face that they were recorded at the request of Stewart Title Company.

Again, counsel for appellant sidesteps the fact that there was not one iota of evidence in the record to the effect that the respondent or any of its officers were ever informed of this final transaction between Davis and Bertagnole, involving respondent's property, nor is there any evidence in the record that the respondent or any of its officers ever authorized the final arrangements made between Davis and Bertagnole, and the delivery and recording of Exhibit 1. The appellant Davis wrongfully parted with the possession of Exhibit 1, not because of Bertagnole's compliance with the earnest money agreement between him and Davis, but simply because "Leo Bertagnole and I exhausted a lot of time, money, traveling in getting this thing straightened out."

Appellant Davis apparently hoped and expected by this devious agreement to obtain for himself 10 acres of valuable land for which he paid nothing, either to the defendant Bertagnole or to the respondent; and he now comes into this court appealing for its sanction of this unjust enrichment of himself. He asks this court to reward his breach of trust

with its declaration that he is now properly, legally, and equitably vested with the ownership of 10 acres of land which belongs to the respondent, and for which he paid nothing.

POINT 2

THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF EXHIBIT 10
WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Counsel for appellant devotes a considerable part of her brief to a discussion of the inadmissability of Exhibit 10, and erroneously claims that the evidence fails otherwise to show that the deed was conditionally delivered to the appellant on March 17, 1977. Whether Exhibit 10 was admissable for all purposes is not important here. Exhibit 10 was prepared by the appellant himself prior to the time that the deed was entrusted to him, and is at the very least evidence of the fact that he knew that he was not to deliver the deed to the grantee unless he had obtained the sale price of \$125,000 for the land, and that in the event the sale was not consummated that he was required to return the deed to the grantor. Although appellant's contradictory and evasive testimony in many respects could well have been bolstered by documentary evidence, he should not complain that Exhibit 10, though a copy, was in full agreement with his own testimony, that he prepared it, and that at the time he prepared it he knew that the condition for the delivery of the deed was the payment by the grantee of \$125,000.

If he didn't know it, why did he immediately thereafter endeavor to obtain \$125,000 from the grantee? Furthermore, when without authority from the grantor he was negotiating an alternative price for the land, he knew that no consideration had been paid for the land by the grantee and that the deed could not be delivered until the grantee had paid for it.

The best evidence rule was not offended by the admission in evidence of Exhibit 10. How could the appellant have been prejudiced when he himself prepared the Exhibit, retained the original, and did not know what happened to the original? He was the last person to have possession of it, and if he did not know where it was he would not have been able to produce it even if a demand had been made upon him for it prior to or during the trial. If the original, which was last in his possession, was available to him and if he knew where to find it, he certainly could have produced it at the trial. He never claimed that the contents of the copy offered and received in evidence was in any respect different from the original.

The best evidence rule allows secondary evidence to be received at the court's discretion when it is not possible to obtain the original documents, particularly when they were last known to be in the possession of the adverse party. See Utah Code Annotated 1953, Section 78-25-16, Rule 70 of the Rules of Evidence, and Juanita J. Meyer vs General American Corporation vs William R. McCurtain, 569 P. 2d 1094 (Utah 1977).

Without regard to Exhibit 10, the great preponderance of the evidence supports the court's finding of non delivery of Exhibit 1, and non compliance of the grantee with the delivery conditions imposed upon him when Exhibit 1 was entrusted to him by the grantor. Indeed, there is not any believable evidence to the contrary.

CONCLUSION

The respondent has no quarrel with any of the principles of law set forth in the numerous authorities cited in appellant's brief. We earnestly submit that they are simply not helpful in the resolution of this appeal, in view of the record. Counsel for the appellant should not expect to be successful in diverting this court from the issues of the case by the citation of irrelevant authority. To reward appellant's breach of trust by presenting him with 10 acres of land, for which he paid nothing, and allowing defendant Bertagnole to obtain 2-1/2 acres of land, for which he paid nothing, thus depriving respondent of 12-1/2 acres of valuable land, would be a gross miscarriage of justice.

For the various reasons set forth in this brief, and in the furtherance of justice and equity, respondent respectfully urges this court to affirm the judgment of the court below.